The association between healthcare system interactions and PrEP usage among transgender and gender
nonconforming adults in Massachusetts and Rhode Island

Ву

Kara Rofé

B.A., Northeastern University, 2020

Thesis

Submitted in Partial Fulfilment of the Requirements

For the Degree of Master of Public Health in the

Brown University School of Public Health

Providence, Rhode Island
May 2022

This thesis by **Kara Rofe** is accepted in its present form by the Brown University School of Public Health as satisfying the thesis requirements for the degree of Master of Public Health.

Date	
	Dr. Jaclyn White Hughto, Advisor
Date	
	Dr. Deborah Pearlman, Reader
Date	
	Annie Gjelsvik, PhD
	Director, Master of Public Health Program
	Approved by the Graduate Council
Data	
Date	

Andrew G. Campbell, Dean of the Graduate School

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The completion of this thesis could not have been possible without the expertise of my thesis advisor, Dr. Jaclyn White Hughto. Her guidance and advice carried me through all stages of this project, and her work with sexual and gender minorities has been a source of inspiration for my career. Her dedication and keen interest in helping me has been the reason I have completed my work.

I would also like to thank my thesis reader Dr. Deborah Pearlman for her insightful comments, encouragement, and enthusiasm that have enabled me to complete my thesis.

I must thank the faculty and administration at the Brown University School of Public Health for giving me the resources and education needed to complete my thesis and to forage ahead in my career.

I would like to thank Erin Hetzel for her support and confidence in me.

Finally, I would also like to give special thanks to my parents Diane Giordano and Roger Rofe for their continuous support, understanding, and unconditional love.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Abstract	1
Introduction	
Methods	5
Study Procedures	5
Measures	6
Data Analysis	10
Results	10
Sample Characteristics	10
Outcomes	11
Discussion	11
Limitations	14
Conclusion	14
References	15

LIST OF TABLES AND FIGURES

Figure 1: Study sample exclusion/inclusion criteria	23
Table 1: Study sample characteristics by PrEP use in a sample of transgender adults	24
in Massachusetts and Rhode Island	
Table 2: Bivariate and multivariable logistic regression examining the association	27
between accessing HIV prevention services, STI history, and condomless sex with	
not using PrEP	

ABSTRACT

Background: Transgender and gender nonconforming (TGNC) adults are disproportionately impacted by HIV. Despite the high efficacy of pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP) to prevent HIV, research suggests that PrEP is underutilized among TGNC people. Research is needed to identify which subgroups of at-risk TGNC people are not utilizing PrEP.

Methods: In 2019, a survey assessing PrEP knowledge and use, healthcare experiences, sexual risk behavior and demographics was administered to 600 TGNC adults in Massachusetts and Rhode Island inperson and online. For the current analysis, the sample was restricted to HIV-negative individuals who had reported one or more HIV risk behaviors, including having sexual contacts with six or more people in the past 6 months, engaging in condomless sex in the past 6 months, having a lifetime history of STIs, and engaging in sex work in the past year, resulting in an analytic sample of *n*=166. An age-adjusted multivariable logistic regression model tested the association between condomless sex in the past 6 months, lifetime history of STIs, accessing HIV prevention services in the past 12 months and the outcome: lifetime non-utilization of PrEP.

Findings: The mean age of this high HIV-risk sample of TGNC adults was 30.8 years old (SD=10.0) and 81.9% were White non-Hispanic. Overall, 31.3% were trans feminine, 24.7% were trans masculine, and 44.0% were non-binary. PrEP awareness was high (80.7%) but few had a history of taking PrEP (14.5%). In the age-adjusted multivariable model, not accessing HIV prevention services in the past 12 months months (aOR=21.14, 95% CI=6.43, 69.49), never having an STI (aOR=3.10, 95% CI= 1.02, 9.39), and engaging in condomless anal or vaginal sex in the past 6 months (aOR=3.84, 95% CI= 1.12, 13.14) were associated with the increased odds of never having used PrEP.

Conclusion: This study represents the first to our knowledge to quantitatively assess factors associated with not using PrEP in a multistate sample of TGNC adults who are HIV negative and at-risk for the virus. The findings extend a body of evidence documenting the lack of PrEP usage among TGNC adults. The low number of at-risk TGNC people who used PrEP indicates the need for structural and clinical interventions to increase PrEP access among this population.

INTRODUCTION

Transgender and gender nonconforming (TGNC) adults are at high risk for HIV and are in crucial need of HIV prevention and care services. ¹⁻⁴ TGNC is an umbrella term for people whose gender identity, behavior, and expression does not conform to that typically associated with the traditional male or female sex assigned at birth. This includes individuals who identify as transgender and gender nonbinary. ⁵ Within the last two decades, there has been a significant increase in research about TGNC people that has increased knowledge of differences within this population. ⁶ While transgender ("trans") people only comprised 0.6% of the U.S. population in 2018, they consisted of 2% of newly diagnosed HIV infections nationally. ² High prevalence of HIV is seen especially in trans women, with this group accounting for a staggering 92% of new diagnoses among transgender adults and adolescents in 2018. ⁷ Although trans men are generally less likely to acquire HIV than trans women, their rate of infection is higher than the general U.S. population. ² Additionally, research related to HIV among trans people focuses almost exclusively on trans women, and there is limited data on HIV rates and risk behaviors among trans men and gender nonconforming individuals. ^{8,9} There are also racial and ethnic disparities in HIV infection among trans people, with Black/African American trans women having the highest HIV prevalence estimates of 62% compared to whites (17%) and Hispanics/Latinos (35%). ¹⁰

A complex combination of individual and structural factors, including TGNC stigma and discrimination, are associated with inequities in healthcare, employment, and housing. ¹¹ Restriction of these fundamental resources is linked to poor mental health, violence, homelessness, sex work, unemployment, and lack of social and familial support among TGNC persons. ¹² Additionally, the psychosocial consequences of stigma and discrimination can lead TGNC individuals to have low self-efficacy and self-esteem, reducing their negotiation power in relationships, and with safe sex and substance use. ¹³ Stigma, victimization, and violence can also drive high levels of HIV-related risk among TGNC individuals, and can interact with substance use to increase effects on sexual risk. ¹⁴ Substance use,

unstable housing, and social and economic marginalization are known barriers to healthcare engagement for TGNC individuals.¹⁵

Pre-exposure prophylaxis, or PrEP, is a key biomedical strategy for preventing HIV acquisition among TGNC individuals at risk for the virus. Data from efficacy trials show that the once-daily oral pill reduces the risk of HIV infection by about 99% and is a key instrument in preventing new HIV transmissions among people at risk for HIV acquisition. As a result of prior studies, the U.S. Food and Drug Administration approved Truvada for PrEP in 2012 and Descovy for PrEP in 2019 among populations at high risk for acquiring HIV, including in those who engage in condomless sex, inject drugs, or have been diagnosed with a sexually transmitted infection in the past 6 months, all which are of higher prevalence in TGNC individuals.

Despite the efficacy of PrEP, research suggests that PrEP is underutilized by at-risk TGNC people. Indeed, a 2020 study found that only 3% of trans adults in the United States who are at high risk for HIV infection use PrEP.²³ Multiple barriers remain to PrEP uptake, with one being awareness of PrEP as a tool to prevent HIV infection. To that end, various studies have found that trans people tend to have low to moderate knowledge of PrEP but those who were familiar with the drug had a predominantly high willingness to use PrEP.²³⁻²⁵ These findings suggest that greater awareness could lead to greater uptake among at-risk TGNC populations who have access to these medications.

Notably, TGNC adults face unique barriers with the healthcare system that can impact access and adherence to PrEP including issues with cost, access to insurance, anti-trans stigma, medical mistrust, and lack of culturally competent care. TGNC individuals often cite prior negative interactions in healthcare settings by providers, clinic staff, and other patients in waiting rooms. Such interactions can include disrespectful remarks, being misgendered, or not being called by their preferred name.²⁵ TGNC patients also report that few providers are knowledgeable in trans medicine.²⁶ As a result, TGNC

individuals may avoid medical settings due to prior experiences of transphobia and lack of transcompetent care, inhibiting healthcare seeking and engagement.

In addition to structural factors, trans individuals may be reluctant to take PrEP for fear of the stigma and negative social norms tied to taking the preventative drug. Indeed, prior research finds that some trans people fear being seen as promiscuous if they utilize PrEP. For example, a 2017 study with men who have sex with men and trans women who have sex with men found the majority of the study group believed PrEP would encourage risky sex, and nearly a quarter believed only promiscuous people used PrEP.²⁷ As a result, high risk individuals may be reluctant to seek out PrEP and healthcare providers may be less likely to prescribe PrEP to their trans patients, due to both encountered and perceived stigma.

The impact of PrEP on reducing HIV incidence is extremely promising, although research on PrEP usage exclusively with transgender adults is limited. Given the documented role of societal stigma and negative healthcare interactions in contributing to poor health outcomes for transgender individuals, 11 research is needed to explore the relationship between these exposures and PrEP usage among this marginalized population. The present data analysis examines the association between healthcare interaction and discrimination across the life-course with PrEP usage among TGNC individuals. These findings can be utilized to inform future interventions to increase PrEP uptake among diverse transgender adults in the United States.

METHODS

Study Procedures

Between March and August 2019, The Fenway Institute in Boston, Massachusetts and Brown University in Providence, Rhode Island teamed up to conduct a stress and health needs assessment for Project VOICE Now! The needs assessment was a follow-up to the 2013 Project VOICE study and was

Created to gain a better understanding of the physical and mental health of trans adults in Massachusetts and Rhode Island, as well as their healthcare experiences. The project took a community-based participatory research approach to recognize how interpersonal and structural stressors impact the health of transgender and gender nonconforming individuals. Non-probability sampling was used between September 2018 and February 2019 to identify and recruit individuals both online, such as electronic listservs and social media, and in-person, including health clinics and community events. Eligibility criteria included: 1) self-identifying as transgender/gender nonconforming, 2) being ages 18 years or older, 3) having resided in MA or RI for at least 3 months in the past year, and 4) having a basic language proficiency in English or Spanish. Written informed consent was obtained at the start of the survey and study activities were approved by the Institutional Review Board at Fenway Health (Project Number: 1280264-6).

For the present analysis focused on PrEP utilization, the sample was restricted to individuals at risk for HIV using indicators from prior research on HIV risk behaviors. ²⁹⁻³⁴ Specifically, in order to be included in this secondary-data analyses, individuals were required to be: HIV negative or unaware of their serostatus; AND have engaged in one or more of the following HIV risk behaviors: condomless anal and/or vaginal sex in the past 6 months; 5 or more sexual partners in the past 6 months; used heroin in the last year; lifetime history of bacterial STIs; or engaged in sex work in the past year. This resulted in an initial analytic sample of N=188.

Measures

Main outcome

<u>PrEP usage</u>.³⁵ Participants were asked if they had ever taken PrEP. Participants were categorized as having taken PrEP (yes) or not (no, don't know/not sure). Participants also selected in the survey their reasons for not taking PrEP, which included reasons such as fear of the drug interacting with hormones,

or concerns about the stigma of PrEP. Those who answered, "prefer not to answer" to PrEP usage were excluded from the final model.

Primary independent variables

<u>PrEP knowledge</u>.³⁶ Participants were asked if they had ever heard about taking HIV medication before sex or to lower potential exposure to HIV. Answers were categorized as yes or no (no, don't know/not sure). Those who preferred not to answer were excluded from the model.

Transgender-related discrimination.³⁷ Participants were asked if any of the 11 discriminatory situations (e.g., being treated with less courtesy, received poor service) ever happened in their lifetime, with the option to choose "never," "rarely," "sometimes," "often," or "very often." Participants were then asked what they thought were the reasons for experiencing discrimination, with the option to check all that applied. Those who believed their experiences of discrimination were due to some aspect of being trans (e.g., gender identity, gender expression) were coded as "yes" while those who did not check these experiences were coded as "no."

Health insurance coverage. Participants were asked to check all insurances and coverages that applied (i.e., Medicare, work insurance). Insurances were re-coded into public insurance and private insurance.

HIV prevention services in the past 12 months.³⁶ Participants were asked, "In the past 12 months, have you accessed any HIV prevention services or programs (for example, risk reduction counseling, demonstrations on how to use condoms, programs for couples or groups focused on reducing HIV risk by changing behaviors)? Participants were given the option to choose yes or no.

Routine check-up in past 3 years.^{39,40} Participants were asked if they had received a routine check-up in the past 3 years to which they responded yes, no, or prefer not to answer. Those who preferred not to answer were excluded from the model.

Sexual contacts in the past 6 months. ⁴¹ Participants were asked how many people they had sexual contact with in the past 6 months. Answers were coded as 5 or less people, and 6 or more people.

<u>Transactional sex in past 12 months</u>. ³⁹ Participants were asked if they had ever traded sexual activity or favors for food, money, a place to sleep, drugs, or other material goods. Those who replied yes were then asked if they had done so in the past 12 months. Responses were coded as yes or no.

Condomless sex in past 6 months. ³⁹ Participants were asked if they had "always," "sometimes," or "never" used a condom for insertive or receptive anal or vaginal sex in the past 6 months. Those who marked "sometimes" or "never" to any sexual contact were coded as "yes" for engaging in condomless sex in the past 6 months.

History of STIs. ⁴¹ Participants were asked if a doctor or other healthcare provider ever told them they had any STIS (e.g., chlamydia, syphilis, gonorrhea). Those who selected any of the STIs were coded as "yes" for having a history of STIs while those who selected "none of the above" were coded as having no history of STIs.

<u>Lifetime diagnosis of a substance use disorder</u>. Participants were asked if they had ever been told by a doctor or health professional if they had any of the following health conditions, and to check all that applied. Those who checked "substance use disorder" were marked "yes" for having a lifetime diagnosis of a substance use disorder.

Sexual and physical abuse.^{39,43} Participants were asked about experiences of abuse throughout the life course. Childhood physical and sexual abuse were assessed before age 18. Physical and sexual abuse (partner and non-partner) in adulthood were also assessed. Responses for both adult and childhood abuse were coded as yes or no. Survey questions were drawn from prior measures as well as created by the VOICE Now! team.

Covariates

Demographics. Age of the participants was reported in years. Race/ethnicity was assessed and included Black/African American, Asian/Asian American, White, Hispanic, Middle Eastern/North African, Native Hawaiian/Pacific Islander, and American Indian/Alaskan Native. 42 Race was assessed and coded as White non-Hispanic vs. Person of Color (Black, Asian, Hispanic/Latinx, Multiracial/Other). Gender identity was assessed using both assigned sex at birth (male, female)⁴⁴ and current gender identity (trans masculine, trans feminine, non-binary, or another gender identity not listed). 39,45 Responses to the two questions were cross-tabulated and categorized into non-binary, trans masculine spectrum, and trans feminine spectrum. Participants were asked if they had ever accessed any gender-affirming, transgender-related medical interventions to which they responded yes or no. The gender affirmation question was created by the VOICE Now! study team. Sexual orientation was assessed by having participants choose one response that best describes their identity at the time of the survey.³⁹ For the logistic regression, sexual orientation was consolidated into two categories: queer, and straight/heterosexual. Socioeconomic status was assessed by asking participants about their highest educational attainment (some college or less, college graduate or more), whether they were employed for wages (yes or no), and whether or not they had unstable housing in the past 12 months (yes or no). 36,38,42 Unstable housing was assessed by asking participants to check where they have lived in the past 12 months. Those who checked housing such as living in a shelter or on the streets were coded as unstably housed.⁴² Financial insecurity was assessed using an item from the Federal Consumer Financial

Protection Bureau's Financial Well-Being Scale. ⁴⁶ Participants were asked to indicate the extent to which they experience the following statement: "I have money left over at the end of the month." Those who responded "always" or "often" were coded as not financially insecure. Those who responded "sometimes, "rarely," or "never" were coded as financially secure.

Data Analysis

The sample was restricted to individuals who had complete data for the independent variables and the outcome, resulting in a final analytic sample of N=166 (Figure 1). Bivariate logistic regressions were conducted to examine the associations between the independent variables, the covariates, and PrEP usage. In bivariate logistic regression analyses, variables that were associated with PrEP usage at p<0.10 were entered into the multivariable model. Manual backward selection was then used to select variables that were significant at p<0.05. The final multivariable model adjusted for age, with not using PrEP modeled as the outcome. All statistical analyses were performed in SAS Studio (SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC).

RESULTS

Sample Characteristics

Participants in this HIV negative and at-risk sample were on average 30.8 years old (SD=10.0) (Table 1). Overall, 44.0% were non-binary, 31.3% were trans feminine, and 24.7% were trans masculine. Most participants were White non-Hispanic (81.9%), employed (71.1%), and received some college education or less (53.0%). Nearly three-quarters of the sample (71.1%) were financially insecure, with 9.6% being unstably housed. The prevalence of self-reported physical and sexual abuse was high in both childhood (65.7%) and adulthood (72.9%). The majority of participants (88.6%) reported experiencing discrimination in their lifetime due to being transgender.

Of the 166 participants in the analysis, 134 (80.7%) had heard of PrEP, but only 24 (14.5%) have ever taken PrEP, despite this sample being at higher risk for HIV infection. Additionally, the majority of the sample (80.1%) had engaged in condomless sex in the past 6 months, 35.5% had an STI in their lifetime, 20.5% had a lifetime diagnosis of a substance use disorder, 19.9% traded sexual activity or favors in the past year, and 15.7% had sexual contact with 6 or more people in the past 6 months. When asked why they did not take PrEP, the top three reasons were because they were low/no risk for HIV (50.0%), never offered PrEP by their provider (17.6%), and concerned about the cost of PrEP (17.6%)

Outcomes

The results of the adjusted logistic regression analyses are shown in Table 2. In the multivariable model adjusted for age, not accessing HIV prevention services in the past 12 months (aOR=21.14, 95% CI=6.43, 69.49), never having an STI (aOR=3.10, 95% CI= 1.02, 9.39), and engaging in condomless anal or vaginal sex in the past 6 months (aOR=3.84, 95% CI= 1.12, 13.14) were each associated with increased odds of not using PrEP to prevent HIV.

DISCUSSION

This study represents the first, to our knowledge, to quantitatively identify factors associated with not using PrEP in a multistate sample of transgender and gender non-conforming adults who are HIV negative and at high risk for the virus. Most TGNC adults in this sample reported having heard of PrEP; however, despite this population being at higher likelihood of HIV infection, very few reported taking PrEP to prevent HIV. Additionally, not accessing HIV prevention services, never having an STI, and engaging in condomless sex were each associated with the higher odds of not using PrEP. The present results extend a body of evidence documenting the lack of PrEP usage among TGNC adults.^{23,47} Findings have implications for structural and clinical interventions to increase PrEP uptake among TGNC adults at high-risk for HIV.

In this sample of at-risk TGNC adults, more than 80% had heard of PrEP. These findings align with recent studies among TGNC individuals in the United States, which found a similarly high knowledge of PrEP. For example, Wood et al.'s 2017 study of young, at-risk trans women found that 64% reported prior knowledge of PrEP and Wilson et al.'s 2022 study of trans women in San Francisco found that 94% had heard about PrEP. A8,49 A 2021 study of transgender and nonbinary youth found that 50.1% had heard of PrEP, but the sample was not limited to at-risk individuals. While prior literature has analyzed PrEP awareness in transgender populations, none have focused on at-risk, gender diverse adults in multiple US states as seen in this study.

The high level of PrEP knowledge in our sample and other studies may be due to the widespread adoption of the drug in recent years. Indeed, the World Health Organization reported in March 2021 that oral PrEP use increased 70% globally since 2018.⁵¹ Importantly, our findings suggests that overwhelmingly, the TGNC people who are most at risk for PrEP are aware of this biomedical tool to prevent HIV and awareness is an essential first step to uptake. Despite the high knowledge of PrEP, only 24 participants (14.5%) in this sample had ever taken PrEP even though this analytic sample was restricted to those who had one or more indicators of HIV risk (i.e., condomless sex, transactional sex, substance use, history of an STI). These findings extend prior biobehavioral and qualitative research on HIV risk behaviors in TGNC people. 13,52 The low use of PrEP among this high-risk sample is similar to a 2020 national study of at-risk transgender individuals, which found that only 2.7% reported currently taking Truvada for PrEP.²³ In the age-adjusted model, never having an STI and lack of engagement in HIV prevention services in the past 12 months were each associated with lack of PrEP usage. These findings align with participants' top two self-reported reasons for not taking PrEP: no perceived risk of HIV and not being referred to take PrEP by a provider. Research finds that having an STI can be a cue to action to obtain sexual healthcare, including HIV testing. 53,54 Notably, however, 81.3% of this high-HIV risk sample did not receive HIV prevention services. Prior research finds that TGNC people may face a number of

barriers to accessing HIV prevention including past experiences of discrimination and cost.⁴⁸ Although transgender-related discrimination was not associated with PrEP usage in our sample, cost was noted as the third most common reason for not taking PrEP. Efforts are needed to improve at-risk TGNC people's access to affordable clinical and biomedical HIV prevention services.

Interestingly, condomless sex in the past 6 months was also associated with the increased odds of non-utilization of PrEP in the multivariable model. This finding could be due to the fact that PrEP guidelines strongly encourage the use of condoms in addition to PrEP as a means of preventing STIs.

Thus, it is possible that those on PrEP may be more aware of the importance of condom use and more likely to prioritize their sexual health than those who are not on PrEP. Notably, however, our study did not assess the relationship status or HIV status of the sexual partners with whom participants engaged in condomless sex. This, it is possible that participants who engaged in condomess sex were in relationships that carried a low risk for HIV acquisition (ie., monogamous relationship with HIV-negative partner) and therefore they did not have a need to utilize PrEP. Qualitative research is needed to explore TGNC people's specific risk behaviors and examine how they evaluate their own risk and need for HIV prevention tools such as PrEP. Such research could be useful in informing clinical interventions aimed at improving PrEP uptake among TGNC individuals at risk for HIV.

The low number of at-risk TGNC people who used PrEP in this sample highlight the need for structural and clinical interventions to increase PrEP access among this population. Specifically, culturally competent health providers are needed to identify at-risk patients and link them to PrEP, considering 17.6% reported not being referred for PrEP. Training about PrEP for non-prescribing providers and incorporating PrEP screening and referrals into routine HIV and STI testing are necessary for linking TGNC people to PrEP. Additionally, the cost of PrEP was cited as a common reason for not using PrEP among this TGNC sample, and research shows that when PrEP is made free of charge, there is

high uptake among high-risk populations.⁵⁵ Interventions are therefore needed to educate and link TGNC patients to PrEP drug assistance programs that cover out-of-pocket costs for those who are uninsured or whose insurance won't cover PrEP. Together these efforts can help to increase PrEP uptake among TGNC populations who are at the greatest risk of HIV infection.

Limitations

This study has several methodological limitations. As a cross-sectional study, causality cannot be inferred. Although the racial/ethnic distribution of this sample (82% white) was similar to the racial/ethnic distribution of Massachusetts (81% white) and Rhode Island (84% white), it is possible our findings may not be generalizable to TGNC people belonging to racial/ethnic minority groups or in other locations. S6,57 As such, future research should address this gap by expanding participant demographic characteristics and representativeness by geographic location. Lastly, the size of this analytic sample was small, which contributed to wide confidence intervals for some variables in our logistic regression analyses. Future research should aim to recruit a larger sample of TGNC people at risk for HIV and seek to replicate our findings.

Conclusion

Despite these aforementioned limitations, this study is among the first to identify factors associated with the non-utilization of prEP among a multistate sample of HIV-negative, at-risk TGNC individuals. The findings support and expand existing literature on the lack of PrEP usage among TGNC people at risk for HIV, and underscore the need for clinical and structural interventions to increase uptake of the drug. Efforts to incorporate PrEP referrals in HIV and STI testing, train providers on PrEP, and educate patients on PrEP drug assistance programs to reduce cost barriers are all needed to increase access to and uptake of PrEP among TGNC people at greatest risk for HIV infection.

References

- 1. Baral SD, Poteat T, Stromdahl S, et al. Worldwide burden of HIV in transgender women: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet Infect Dis. 2013;13:214-222. Doi:10.1016/S1473-3099(12)70315-8
- 2. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. HIV and Transgender People: HIV Diagnoses. Published April 2021. Available at https://www.cdc.gov/hiv/group/gender/transgender/index.html. Accessed July 14, 2021.
- 3. Lemons A, Beer L, Finlayson T, et al. Characteristics of HIV-positive transgender men receiving medical care: United States, 2009-2014. Am J Public Health. 2017;108:128-130.

https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2017.304153

- 4. Poteat T, Malik M, Scheim A, Elliot A. HIV prevention among transgender populations: knowledge gaps and evidence for action. Curr HIV/AIDS Rep. 2017;14:141-152. Doi: 10.1007/s11904-017-0360-1
 5. American Psychiatric Association. Transgender People, Gender Identity, and Gender Expression 2021 [cited August 26, 2021]. Available from: https://www.apa.org/topics/lgbtq/transgender. Accessed August 26, 2021.
- 6. American Psychological Association. Guidelines for Psychological Practice With Transgender and Gender Nonconforming People. American Psychologist. 2015; 70(9):832-864.

https://doi.org/10.1037/a0039906

7. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. HIV Surveillance Report, 2018 (Updated).; vol 31. https://www.cdc.gov/hiv/library/reports/hiv-surveillance.html. Published May 2020. Accessed July 12, 2021.

- 8. Sevelius J, Scheim A, Giambrone B. What are transgender men's HIV prevention needs? Center for AIDS Prevention Studies. University of California San Francisco; 2015 [cited August 26, 2021]. Available from https://prevention.ucsf.edu/sites/prevention.ucsf.edu/files/TransmenFS-Sept2015.pdf
- Shover CL, DeVost MA, Beymer MR, et al. Using Sexual Orientation and Gender Identity to Monitor
 Disparities in HIV, Sexually Transmitted Infections, and Viral Hepatitis. Am J Public Health.
 2018;108(Suppl 4):S277-S283. Doi: 10.2105/AJPH.2018.304751
- 10. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. HIV Infection, Risk, Prevention, and Testing Behaviors

 Among Transgender Woemn- National HIV Behavioral Surveillance, 7 U.S. Cities, 2019-2020. HIV

 Surveillance Special Report 27. https://www.cdc.gov/hiv/library/reports/hiv-surveillance.html.

 Published April 2021. Accessed July 12, 2021.
- 11. Hughto JLW, Reisner SL, Pachankis JE. Transgender Stigma and Health: A Critical Review of Stigma Determinants, Mechanisms, and Interventions. Soc Sci Med. 2015 Dec;147:222-231. Doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2015.11.010
- 12. Teti M, Bauerband LA, Altman C. Adherence to Antiretroviral Therapy Among Transgender and Gender Nonconforming People Living with HIV: Findings from the 2015 U.S. Trans Survey. Transgend Health. 2019;4(1): 262-269. Doi: 10.1089/trgh.2019.0050
- 13. Nemoto T, Operario D, Keatley J, et al. HIV Risk Behaviors Among Male-to-Female Transgender

 Persons of Color in San Francisco. AJPH. 2004; 94: 1193-1199. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.94.7.1193

- 15. Hendricks ML, Testa RJ. A conceptual framework for clinical work with transgender and gender nonconforming clients: An adaptation of the Minority Stress Model. Professional Psychology: Research and Practice. 2012;43(5):460-467. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0029597
- 16. About PrEP. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Last updated April 21, 2021. Accessed July 14, 2021 from https://www.cdc.gov/hiv/basics/prep/about-prep.html
- 17. Deutsch MB, Glidden DV, Sevelius J, et al. HIV pre-exposure prophylaxis in transgender women: a subgroup analysis of the iPrEX trial. The Lancet HIV. 2015;2(12):512-519. Doi:10.1016/S2352-3018(15)00206-4
- 18. FDA approves first drug for reducing the risk of sexually acquired HIV infection. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. Published July 16, 2012. Available at https://www.hiv.gov/blog/fda-approves-first-drug-for-reducing-the-risk-of-sexually-acquired-hiv-infection. Accessed July 27, 2021.
- 19. FDA approves second drug to prevent HIV infection as part of ongoing efforts to end the HIV epidemic. U.S. Food and Drug Administration. Last updated October 3, 2018. Available at https://www.fda.gov/news-events/press-announcements/fda-approves-second-drug-prevent-hiv-infection-part-ongoing-efforts-end-hiv-epidemic. Accessed July 27, 2021.
- 120. Deciding to take PrEP. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Last updated May 13, 2021.

 Available from https://www.cdc.gov/hiv/basics/prep/prep-decision.html. Accessed September 6, 2021.
- 21. Schlissel AC, Carpenter R, Avripas S, et al. Substance Misuse and Condomless Sex among Transgender Youth [published online ahead of print June 30, 2021]. Transgender Health. http://doi.org/10.1089/trgh.2020.0115
- 22. Van Gerwen OT, Jani A, Long DM, et al. Prevalence of sexually transmitted infections and human immunodeficiency virus in transgender persons: a systematic review. Transgender Health. Jun 2020;5(2):90-103.

- 23. Sevelius JM, Poteat T, Luhur WE, Reisner SL, Meyer IH. HIV Testing and PrEP Use in a National Probability Sample of Sexually Active Transgender People in the United States. JAIDS. 15 Aug 2020;84(5):437-442. Doi: 10.1097/QAI.0000000000002403
- 24. Pacifíco de Carvalho N, Mendicino CCP, Cândido RCF, Alecrim DJD, Menezes de Pádua CA. HIV preexposure prophylaxis (PrEP) awareness and acceptability among trans women: a review. AIDS Care. 2019;31(10):1234-1240. Doi: 10.1080/09540121.2019.1612014
- 25. Sevelius JM, Keatley J, Calma N, Arnold E. 'I am not a man': Trans-specific barriers and facilitators to PrEP accountability among transgender women. Global Public Health. 2016;11(7-8):1060-1075.

 Doi:10.1080/17441692.2016.1154085
- 26. Safer JD, Coleman E, Feldman J, et al. Barriers to healthcare for transgender individuals. Curr Opin Endocrinol Diabetes Obes. 2016;23(2):168-171. Doi:10.1097/MED.0000000000000227
- 27. Eaton LA, Kalichman SC, Price D, Finneran S, Allen A, Maksut J. Stigma and Conspiracy Beliefs Related to Pre-exposure Prophylaxis (PrEP) and Interest in Using PrEP Among Black and White Men and Transgender Women Who Have Sex with Men. *AIDS Behav.* 2017 May;21(5):1236-1246. Doi: 10.1007/s10461-017-1690-0.
- 28. Leung MW, Yen IH, Minkler M. Community based participatory research: a promising approach for increasing epidemiology's relevance in the 21st century. *Int J Epidemiol.* 2004;33:499-506. Doi: 10.1093/ije/dyh010
- 29. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. *HIV Infection, Risk, Prevention, and Testing Behaviors*Among Transgender Women- National HIV Behavioral Surveillance, 7 U.S. Cities, 2019-2020. HIV

 Surveillance Special Report 27. https://www.cdc.gov/hiv/library/reports/hiv-surveillance.html.

 Published April 2021. Accessed July 12, 2021.

- 30. Feldman J, Romine RS, Bockting WO. HIV Risk Behaviors in the U.S. Transgender Population: Prevalence and Predictors in a Large Internet Sample. *J Homosex*. 2014 Nov;6(11):1558-1588. Doi:10.1080/00918369.2014.944048.
- 31. Denson DJ, Padgett PM, Pitts N, et al. Health Care Use and HIV-Related Behaviors of Black and Latina Transgender Women in 3 US Metropolitan Areas: Results From the Transgender HIV Behavioral Survey. *J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr.* 2017 Jul;75(3):S268-S275. Doi:10.1097/QAI.0000000000001402
- 32. Reback CJ, Fletcher JB. HIV Prevalence, Substance Use, and Sexual Risk Behaviors among Transgender Women Recruited Through Outreach. *AIDS Behav.* 2014 Jul; 18)7): 1359-1367. Doi: 10.1007/s10461-013-0657-z
- 33. Herbst JH, Jacobs ED, Finlayson TJ, et al. Estimating HIV Prevalence and Risk Behaviors of Transgender Persons in the United States: A Systematic Review. *AIDS Behav.* 2008;12:1-17. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10461-007-9299-3
- 34. Green N, Hoenigl M, Morris S, Little SJ. Risk Behavior and Sexually Transmitted Infections Among
 Transgender Women and Men Undergoing Community-Based Screening for Acute and Early HIV
 Infection in San Diego. *Medicine*. 2015 Oct;94(41):e1830. Doi: 10.1097/MD.00000000000001830

 35. Gilead Sciences. Pre-Exposure Prophylaxis for HIV Prevention. Gilead Sciences Policy Position. 2014.
 Retrieved from https://www.gilead.com/~/media/Files/pdfs/other/PreExposure%20Prophylaxis%
 2072814.pdf
- 36. Jadwin-Cakmak L, Reisner SL, Hughto JMW, et al. HIV prevention and HIV care among transgender and gender diverse youth: design and implementation of a multisite mixed-methods study protocol in the U.S. BMC Public Health. 2019;19(1531). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-019-7605-4

- 37. Williams D, Yu Y, Jackson J, Anderson N. Racial differences in physical and mental health. Journal of Health Psychology. 1997; 3:335-51. Doi: 10.1177/135910539700200305.
- 38. Human Rights Commission. Corporate Equality Index, Human Rights Campaign Foundation, Washington, DC. 2013. Available at https://assets2.hrc.org/files/assets/resources/CorporateEquality Index_2013.pdf?_ga=2.241452992.392724190.1559853163-1101873719.1559853163. Accessed October 15, 2021.
- 39. Reisner SL, Hughto JMW, Dunham EE, et al. Legal protections in public accommodation settings: A critical public health issue for transgender and gender non-conforming people. Milbank Quarterly. 2015; 93:484-515. Doi: 10.1111/1468-0009.12127
- 40. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System Survey

 Questionnaire. US Department of Health and Human Services. Atlanta, GA. 2011.
- 41. Reisner SL, Deutsch MB, Peitzmeier SM, et al. Comparing self- and provider-collected swabbing for HPV DNA testing in female-to-male transgender adult patients: a mixed methods biobehavioral study protocol. BMC Infect Dis. 2017;17(1):444. doi: 10.1186/s12879-017-2539-x.
- 42. Meyer IH, Bockting WO, Herman JL, et al. TransPop Study Questionnaire for Transgender-Identified Adults and Measure Sources. 2016. https://static1.squarespace.com/static/55958472e4b0af241ecac34f/t/5d11526fa55f6500010d130e/1561416304031/Trans+identified-

TransPop+2+Questionnaire+and+Measures+sources.pdf

43. James SE, Herman JL, Rankin S, et al. The Report of the 2015 U.S. Transgender Survey. Washington, DC: National Center for Transgender Equality. Retrieved from https://transequality.org/sites/default/files/docs/usts/USTS-Full-Report-Dec17.pdf.

- 44. Grant JM, Mottet LA, Tanis J, et al. Injustice at every turn: A report of the National Transgender Discrimination Survey. Washington, DC. 2011. https://transequality.org/sites/default/files/docs/resources/NTDS_Report.pdf
- 45. Frazer AL & Wright RJ. Growing Up Today Study Questionnaire. 2010. https://nhs2survey.org/gutswordpress/wp-content/uploads/2018/06/2010girls.pdf.
- 46. Consumer Financial Protection Bureau. Measuring financial well-being: A guide to using the CFPB Financial Well-Being Scale. 2015. https://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201512_cfpb_financial-well -being-user-guide-scale.pdf
- 47. Kuhns LM, Reisner SL, Mimiaga MJ, et al. Correlates of PrEP Indication in a Multi-Site Cohort of Young HIV-Uninfected Transgender Women. AIDS and Behavior. 2015 Sept; 20:1470-1477. Doi: 10.1007/s10461-015-1182-z
- 48. Wood SM, Lee S, Barg FK, et al. Young Transgender Women's Attitudes Toward HIV Pre-Exposure Prophylaxis. J Adolesc Health. 2017 May; 60(5):549-555.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2016.12.004

- 49. Wilson EC, Hernandez CJ, Scheer S, et al. Improved PrEP Awareness and Use Among Trans Women in San Francisco, California. AIDS Behav. 2022; 26(2):596-603. doi: 10.1007/s10461-021-03417-3
- 50. Andrzejewski J, Dunville R, Johns MM, et al. Medical Gender Affirmation and HIV and Sexually Transmitted Disease Prevention in Transgender Youth: Results from the Survey of Today's Adolescent Relationships and Transitions, 2018. LGBT Health. 2021 Apr; 8(3):181-189. doi: 10.1089/lgbt.2020.0367
- 51. Global PrEP Network Highlight- March 2021. Global data shows increasing PrEP use and widespread adoption of WHO PrEP recommendations. World Health Organization. 2021. Available at

https://www.who.int/news-room/feature-stories/detail/global-data-shows-increasing-prep-use-and-widespread-adoption-of-who-prep-recommendations. Accessed December 1, 2021.

52. Yi S, Ngin C, Tuot S, et al. HIV prevalence, risky behaviors, and discrimination experiences among transgender women in Cambodia: descriptive findings from a national integreated biological and behavioral survey. BMC Int Health Hum Rights. 2017 May;17(14). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12914-017-0122-6

- 53. Goulet JL, Martinello RA, Bathulapalli H, et al. STI diagnosis and HIV testing among OEF/OID/OND veterans. Med Care. 2014 Dec; 52(12):1064-1067. doi: 10.1097/MLR.00000000000000053
- 54. Katz DA, Dombrowski JC, Kerani RP, et al. Integrating HIV Testing as an Outcome of STD Partner Services for Men Who Have Sex with Men. AIDS Patient Care STDS. 2016 May; 30(5):208-214. doi: 10.1089/apc.2016.0027.
- 55. Grant RM, Anderson PL, McMahan V, et al. Uptake of pre-exposure prophylaxis, sexual practices, and HIV incidence in men and transgender women who have sex with men: a cohort study. Lancet Infect Dis. 2014;14(9):820-829. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1473-3099(14)70847-3
- 56. U.S. Census: Quick facts: Massachusetts. U.S. Census Bureau. 2020. Available at https://www.census.gov/quickfacts/MA. Accessed December 1, 2021.
- 57. U.S. Census: Quick facts: Rhode Island. U.S. Census Bureau. 2020. Available at https://www.census.gov/quickfacts/fact/table/RI/PST045219. Accessed December 1, 2021.

Figure 1. Study sample exclusion/inclusion criteria

Full survey sample size n = 600**Exclude HIV-positive participants** n = 587Include participants at risk for HIV n = 189Exclude participants with missing data from HIV risk behaviors n = 23Final analytic sample n = 166

Table 1: Study sample characteristics by PrEP use in a sample of transgender adults in Massachusetts and Rhode Island

Characteristic	Never too n=14		Has taken PrEP n=24	
Characteristic	Mean	SD	Mean	SD
Age (years)	30.5	10.2	32.7	9
	Percen	t(n)	Percent(<i>r</i>	1)
Gender identity		` ,	·	•
Trans masculine (man, trans man)	22.5(3	32)	37.5(9)	
Trans feminine (woman, trans woman)	33.1(4	17)	20.8(5)	
Nonbinary (e.g., gender variant, genderqueer,				
other)	44.4(6	53)	41.7(10)	
Queer				
Yes	97.2(1	38)	87.5(21)	
No	2.5(4	1)	12.5(3)	
Sexual orientation				
Straight	2.8(4	1)	12.5(3)	
Queer	86.6(123)		79.2(19)	
Questioning	2.8(4)		4.2(1)	
Asexual	2.1(3)		4.2(1)	
No label	5.6(8)		0.0(0)	
Race/ethnicity				
Non-Hispanic White	83.1(1	18)	75.0(18)	
Person of color ¹	16.9(2	24)	25.0(6)	
Employed for wages				
Yes	69.7(9	99)	79.2(19)	
No	30.3(4	13)	20.8(5)	
Education				
Some college or less	52.1(7	74)	58.3(14)	
College grad or more	47.9(6	58)	41.7(10)	
Accessed any gender-affirming care	_			
Yes	67.6(9	-	83.3(20)	
No	32.4(4	16)	16.7(4)	

Table 1. (Continued)

Hoolkh income a town		
Health insurance type	24.0(44)	44.7(40)
Public insurance ²	31.0(44)	41.7(10)
Private insurance	66.2(94)	58.3(14)
Missing	2.8(4)	0.0(0)
Financially insecure		
Yes	69.0(98)	83.3(20)
No	30.3(43)	16.7(4)
Missing	0.7(1)	0.0(0)
PrEP awareness		
Yes	77.5(110)	100.0(24)
No	22.5(32)	0.0(0)
Received routine check-up in past 3 years		
Yes	89.4(127)	91.7(22)
No	10.6(15)	8.3(2)
Accessed HIV prevention services in past 12		
months		
Yes	11.3(16)	62.5(15)
No	88.7(126)	37.5(9)
Transgender-related discrimination		
Yes	88.0(125)	91.7(22)
No	11.3(16)	4.2(1)
Missing	0.7(1)	4.2(1)
Sexual contacts in past 6 months	45 5(22)	46.7(4)
6 or more people	15.5(22)	16.7(4)
5 or less	84.5(120)	83.3(20)
Transactional sex in past 12 months		
Yes	19.0(27)	25.0(6)
No	59.2(84)	37.5(9)
Missing	21.8(31)	37.5(9)
Unstably housed		
Yes	9.9(14)	8.3(2)
No	90.1(128)	91.7(22)

Table 1. (Continued)

Lifetime diagnosis of SUD		
Yes	19.0(27)	29.2(7)
No	81.0(115)	70.8(17)
Physical or sexual abuse in childhood		
Yes	64.8(92)	70.8(17)
No	33.8(48)	16.7(4)
Missing	1.4(2)	12.5(3)
Physical or sexual abuse in adulthood		
Yes	73.2(104)	70.8(17)
No	24.7(35)	20.8(5)
Missing	2.1(3)	8.3(2)
Condomless sex in past 6 months		
Yes	82.4(117)	66.7(16)
No	17.6(25)	33.3(8)
History of STI		
Yes	31.0(44)	62.5(15)
No	69.0(98)	37.5(9)

SD, standard deviation.

SUD, substance use disorder.

STI, sexually transmitted infection

¹ Persons of color include Black (non-Hispanic), Asian/Pacific Islander, Hispanic/Latinx, Multiracial, and other

² Public insurance includes Medicare, Medicaid, Veterans Health Administration, and COBRA

Table 2: Bivariate and multivariable logistic regression examining the association between accessing HIV prevention services, STI history, and condomless sex with not using PrEP (n=166)

Outcome: no lifetime usage of PrEP

	lifetime usage of PrEP					
	Bivariate model Age-adjusted multivariable				ariable model	
Outcome	OR	95% CI	p-value	aOR	95% CI	p-value
Age	0.98	0.94-1.02	0.319	0.98	0.94-1.03	0.475
Gender identity						
Trans feminine	2.64	0.81-8.62	0.107	-	-	-
Nonbinary	1.77	0.65-4.80	0.26	-	-	-
Queer						
Yes	4.93	1.03-23.60	0.046	-	-	-
Race/ethnicity						
Person of color	0.61	0.22-1.70	0.344	-	-	-
Employed for wages						
Yes	0.61	0.21-1.73	0.349	-	-	-
Education						
Some college or less	0.78	0.32-1.87	0.573	-	-	-
Accessed any gender-						
affirming care						
Yes	2.40	0.77-7.41	0.13	-	-	-
Health insurance type						
Public insurance	0.66	0.27-1.59	0.35	-	-	-
Financially insecure						
Yes	0.46	0.15-1.41	0.174	-		-
Received routine check-						
up in past 3 years						
Yes	0.77	0.17-3.60	0.74	-	-	-
Accessed HIV						
prevention services in						
past 12 months						
No	13.13	4.94-34.85	<.0001	21.14	6.43-69.50	<.0001
Transgender-related discrimination						
Yes	0.36	0.05-2.82	0.327	-	-	-

Reference groups: Gender identity (trans masculine); Queer (no); Race/ethnicity (non-Hispanic White); Employed for wages (no); Education (college grad or more); Accessed any gender-affirming care (no); Health insurance type (private insurance); Financially insecure (no); Received routine check-up in past 3 years (no); Accessed HIV prevention services in past 12 months (yes); Transgender-related discrimination (no).

Table 2. (Continued)

Sexual contacts in past						
6 months						
6 or more people	0.92	0.29-2.94	0.884	-	-	-
Transactional sex in						
past 12 months						
Yes	0.48	0.16-1.48	0.202	-	-	-
Unstably housed						
Yes	1.20	0.26-5.66	0.815	-	-	-
Lifetime diagnosis of						
SUD						
Yes	0.57	0.22-1.51	0.259	-	-	-
Physical or sexual						
abuse in childhood						
Yes	0.45	0.14-1.41	0.172	-	-	-
Physical or sexual						
abuse in adulthood						
Yes	0.87	0.30-2.54	0.805	-	-	-
Condomless sex in past						
6 months						
Yes	2.34	0.90-6.06	0.08	3.84	1.12-13.14	0.032
History of STI		3.50 3.50	0.00	0.0.		0.00_
_	2.71	1 51 0 12	0.0043	2.10	1 02 0 20	0.046
No	3.71	1.51-9.13	0.0043	3.10	1.02-9.39	0.046

Reference groups: Sexual contacts in past 6 months (5 or less); Transactional sex in past 12 months (no); Unstably housed (no); Lifetime diagnosis of SUD (no); Physical or sexual abuse in childhood (no); Physical or sexual abuse in adulthood (no); Condomless sex in past 6 months (no); History of STI (yes).

Note: Variables associated with outcome at p <0.10 were initially included in the multivariable model. Manual backward selection was then used to select the final variables for inclusion.

aOR= adjusted odds ratio; CI= confidence interval.

Bolded text= significant at the p< 0.05 level